S Wolters Kluwer Lippincott

# Lippincott Williams & Wilkins Cardiovascular Pharmacology

Na-H Exchange Inhibition with Cariporide Limits Functional Impairment Caused by Repetitive Ischemia

Author(s):	Symons, J. David; Correa, Steven D.; Schaefer, Saul	ISSN: 0160-2446
Issue	Volume 32(6) December 1998 pp 853-862	Accession: 00005344-199812000-00001
Dublication Tonos		Email Jumpstart
Publication Type:	[Articles]	Find Citing Articles
Publisher:	© 1998 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Inc.	
	Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, University of	About this Journal >
	California, Davis, California, U.S.A.	
	Received July 7, 1997; revision accepted January 11, 1998.	
institution(s):	Address correspondence and reprint requests to Dr. S. Schaefer at Division of	
	Cardiovascular Medicine, TB 172 Bioletti Way, University of California, Davis, CA	
	95616, U.S.A.	

Keywords: Ischemia, Reperfusion, Intracellular calcium, Cariporide, Conscious pigs

Table of Contents:

» Sodium Channel-Blocking Properties of Spiradoline, a [kappa] Receptor Agonist, are Responsible for Its Antiarrhythmic Action in the Rat.

Links Abstract **Complete Reference** Check for full text

# Outline

- Summary:
- MATERIALS AND METHODS
  - Surgical procedures
  - Hemodynamic and blood-flow measurements
  - Experimental protocols
  - Adenosine infusion
  - Euthanization and postmortem procedures
  - Statistical analysis
- RESULTS
  - Exclusions
  - General results
  - Hemodynamic variables
  - Adenosine infusion
- DISCUSSION

## Summary: 🟦

Intracellular calcium ([Ca]i) overload on reperfusion may be one of the mechanisms responsible for ischemia-induced regional myocardial dysfunction. Because inhibiting the Na-H exchanger (NHE) limits intracellular sodium ([Na]i) and subsequent [Ca]i accumulation, we hypothesized that NHE inhibition would attenuate regional dysfunction in response to 25 cycles of ischemia (I, 2-min) and reperfusion (R, 8-min) of the left circumflex coronary artery (LCx) in conscious swine. Six animals were instrumented to measure arterial pressure, regional myocardial blood flow (colored microspheres), systolic wall thickening (WTh) in the normally perfused (left anterior descending, LAD) and LCx regions (sonomicrometry), LCx blood flow velocity (Doppler), and to reversibly occlude the LCx (hydraulic occluder). Each animal completed three protocols separated by 7 days: ISC, 25 I/R cycles; CAR, 25 I/R cycles + NHE inhibition (cariporide); and VEH, vehicle administration for 4.2 h. Regional myocardial blood flow was measured during LCx occlusion in the first protocol and 10 min after I/R 25 in all protocols. Systemic hemodynamics were similar among and within each protocol. Blood flow measured during LCx occlusion confirmed that perfusion was reduced (p < 0.05) to this compared with the LAD region. During ISC, LCx WTh was reduced (p < 0.05) after five I/R cycles, and a stable reduction ([almost equal to]55% of baseline; p < 0.05) was present after 20 I/R cycles. During CAR, LCx systolic WTh was reduced (p < 0.05) only after 15 and 25 I/R cycles ([almost equal to]80 and 72%, respectively). The decrease in LCx WTh was greater in ISC than in CAR (p < 0.05). LCx WTh was not altered during VEH, while LAD WTh was similar within and among all protocols. Regional blood flow measured after 25 I/R cycles was not different among protocols. Our results indicate that NHE inhibition delays the onset and limits the degree of regional dysfunction in response to repeated bouts of ischemia and reperfusion.

Patients with coronary artery disease may exhibit chronic left-ventricular dysfunction that improves with revascularization (1). Although compromised contractile function may occur from exposure to

- Mechanisms of regional dysfunction
- NHE inhibition in repetitive ischemia
- NHE inhibition and vascular function
- Repetitive ischemia as a model for hibernation
- Limitations
- Implications

# REFERENCES

# Graphics

- Table 1
- Fig. 1
- Fig. 2
- Table 2
- Table 3
- Fig. 3
- Fig. 4

persistent sublethal ischemia (2,3), persistent regional dysfunction may be caused by recurrent bouts of ischemia (4). In this paradigm, dysfunctional yet viable myocardium is perfused antegrade from a significantly stenosed artery or retrograde by collateral vessels or both. In either instance, imbalances between myocardial oxygen supply and demand occur when the metabolic requirement for oxygen increases (e.g., exercise).

Although the precise mechanisms responsible for postischemic myocardial dysfunction are not clear, evidence exists that both calcium overload on reperfusion (5,6) and free radical generation are involved (7). Data implicating the former possibility are that calcium transport is abnormal in postischemic myocardium (5,8) and that ischemia-induced myocardial dysfunction is attenuated when intracellular calcium ([Ca]i) entry is limited (9).

Whereas direct inhibition of [Ca]i entry may be effective in limiting myocardial dysfunction, results indicate that reducing the stimulus for [Ca]i entry on reperfusion also may be protective. A primary stimulus for [Ca]i entry on reperfusion is the accumulation of intracellular sodium ([Na]i) during ischemia and early reperfusion (6), resulting in the subsequent exchange of sodium for calcium via the Na-Ca exchanger (10). Therefore, interventions that limit [Na]i entry can reduce [Ca]i overload, and thus, myocardial dysfunction.

Studies concerned with limiting [Na]i entry during ischemia and reperfusion have focused on the Na-H exchanger (NHE; 11-13). In the presence of intracellular acidosis, this ubiquitous membrane protein exchanges one proton for one sodium, thereby limiting acidosis at the expense of increased [Na]i (14). As with direct limitation of [Ca]i, NHE inhibition lessens ischemia-induced dysfunction resulting from one or two bouts of myocardial ischemia in anesthetized animal models (11,13,15,16).

Because of the effect of NHE inhibition on [Na]i and [Ca]i, we hypothesized that NHE inhibition using cariporide would attenuate the impairment of regional function induced by repeated bouts of ischemia and reperfusion in a conscious animal model of myocardial stunning. Stable regional dysfunction was produced by 25 cycles of left circumflex coronary artery occlusion (2 min) and reperfusion (8 min) in conscious swine. When this protocol was performed in the same animals in the presence of NHE inhibition using cariporide, the onset of regional dysfunction was delayed, and the degree of impairment was lessened throughout the protocol.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS 🔝

## Surgical procedures 🟦

Surgical and experimental protocols used in this study were approved by the Animal Use and Care Committee at the University of California, Davis. One day before surgery, pigs were given 400 mg sulfamethoxazole and 80 mg trimethoprim orally (Tribrisson) and then were fasted overnight. Immediately before surgery, animals were sedated with ketamine (25 mg/kg, i.m.) and atropine (0.05 mg/kg, i.m.), intubated after relaxation by mask induction with 1-3% halothane, and then were given 1 g of cefazolin sodium (Kefzol, i.v.). Anesthesia was maintained during the aseptic procedure with 1-3% isoflurane. With the animal in a dorsal recumbent position, an incision was made in the neck, the carotid artery was isolated, and a polymeric silicone (Silastic) catheter was inserted and advanced to the descending aorta. Next, the pig was repositioned so that a left lateral thoracotomy could be performed through the fifth intercostal space, a Silastic catheter inserted into the left atrial appendage, and four recording electrodes sewn to the surface of the myocardium. A 1- to 2-cm segment of the proximal left circumflex coronary artery (LCx) then was dissected from adherent tissue, and a hydraulic occluder (In Vivo Metric, Healdsburg, CA, U.S.A.) and Doppler flow probe (Triton Technology, San Diego, CA, U.S.A.) placed around the vessel. Two pairs of sonomicrometer dimension gauges (5 MHz, 2.5 mm in diameter; J.W. Inc, San Diego, CA, U.S.A.) were placed across the left ventricular free wall for measuring systolic wall thickening (WTh; Triton Technology). One set of gauges was placed distal to the hydraulic occluder in the area perfused by the LCx (i.e., the region to be made ischemic), whereas the second pair was positioned approximately midway between the apex and base of the heart in a region supplied by the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD; the normally perfused region). Accurate placement of the gauges was confirmed by decreased systolic WTh or frank wall thinning in the LCx region, with no change or increased systolic WTh in the LAD perfusion territory in response to a brief (20- to 30-s) inflation of the occluder. Dimension gauges were repositioned if placement criteria were not met. Throughout the surgical procedure, arterial blood gases were monitored so that pH could be maintained between 7.35 and 7.45. All catheters and wires were exteriorized on the pig's back. After surgery, each animal was fitted with a custom-made jacket (Alice King Chatham, Los Angeles, CA, or Fabric Expressions, Seattle, WA, U.S.A.) to protect catheters and their exit sites.

The health status of the animals was monitored 7 days per week. Kefzol (1 g, i.a.) was administered daily for 7 days, followed by oral Tribrisson each day thereafter. Catheters were flushed and exit sites cleaned every second day. The pigs were housed individually in pens and fed once per day. We have used these techniques previously (17,18).

## Hemodynamic and blood-flow measurements 🖭

Systolic, diastolic, and mean arterial blood pressures, heart rate (HR), ECG, LCx blood-flow velocity, and signals obtained from the sonomicrometer dimension gauges were monitored and recorded on a Gould TA 4000 (Cleveland, OH, U.S.A.). The heart rate times systolic blood pressure product (RPP) was used to estimate myocardial oxygen demand.

Systolic WTh was measured over the ejection phase of systole. The timing of systole was determined by using the peak of the S wave and the end of the T wave of the ECG (19). This method of timing the ejection phase was compared with more traditional methods (e.g., dP/dt) and found to be similar both at rest and during demand-induced regional ischemia in conscious pigs (18,19). Regional myocardial function data are expressed as percentage systolic

WTh, calculated as end-systolic WTh minus end-diastolic WTh divided by end-diastolic WTh times 100. All hemodynamic and regional function calculations were determined over five to 10 consecutive cardiac cycles.

Regional blood flow was measured by injecting [almost equal to] $3 \times 10^{6}$  colored microspheres (e.g., blue, yellow, red, or white; 15 µm, Triton Technology) into the left atrium 15 s after initiating withdrawal of the reference sample from the carotid artery. The withdrawal was continued for a total of 2 min (7 ml/min), and myocardial blood flow was calculated by using techniques that have been described (20). Renal blood flow also was measured so that adequate mixing of the microspheres could be documented (i.e., <15% difference in blood flow between right and left kidney).

## Experimental protocols 🟦

At least 7 days after surgical instrumentation, baseline arterial blood gases and rectal temperatures were obtained while the animals stood quietly in the transport cage. Next, pigs were suspended in a large animal sling and mild sedation attained by using propofol ([almost equal to]0.2 mg/kg/min, i.a., a gift from Zeneca Pharmaceuticals, Wilmington, DE, U.S.A.). For the duration of each experimental protocol, supplemental oxygen (0.25-0.50 L/min; 100% O<sub>2</sub>) was administered using a nasal cannula. After hemodynamic variables and blood gases were stable (e.g., for 20-30 min), animals began a 60-min baseline period in one of three experimental protocols, each separated by 7 days.

Twenty-five ischemia and reperfusion (I/R) cycles + vehicle; ISC. The purpose of the ISC protocol was to document the time course of development and the extent of regional dysfunction in response to 25 I/R cycles of the LCx. Vehicle (saline; [almost equal to]12-ml bolus) was administered into the left atrium at the beginning of the 60-min baseline period, and a constant infusion (0.04 ml/min) was started at the end of this period and continued throughout the 25 I/R cycles. Each I/R cycle consisted of inflating the hydraulic occluder for 2 min followed by reperfusion for 8 min. The diameter of the occluder was decreased by using an indeflator to an extent whereby phasic variations (both audible and visual) in LCx blood-flow velocity were eliminated. Subsequent inflations during both protocols requiring LCx occlusion were guided by the same parameters, so that similar reductions in LCx blood-flow velocity were achieved. Although hemodynamic variables were monitored throughout the entire protocol, MAP, HR, RPP, LCx and LAD systolic WTh, and LCx blood-flow velocity were calculated immediately before occlusion and at 2 min of occlusion for I/R 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25. Arterial blood gases and rectal temperatures were taken before I/R 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25. In addition, to document whether the I/R regimen elicited indices of myocyte damage, arterial blood samples were obtained for later analysis of plasma creatine kinase (21).

Blood flow was determined after ~1.5-min during the last 2-min LCx occlusion. Because of the limited number of colors available whose wavelengths could be separated accurately, occlusion blood flow was assessed only during this protocol. Regional blood flow was measured [almost equal to]10 min after I/R 25 (or sham I/R 25) in all three protocols. Whereas the blood flow after VEH was used to determine baseline perfusion, transmural flow after ISC and CAR was used to assess whether regional perfusion was altered in the presence of regional dysfunction.

*Twenty-five I/R cycles + NHE inhibition; CAR.* The purpose of this protocol was to examine whether NHE inhibition attenuates the time course and/or the magnitude of regional dysfunction in response to 25 I/R cycles of the LCx. Experimental procedures were identical to those described in ISC, except that the NHE inhibitor [cariporide (formerly known as HOE 642), 3 mg/kg bolus, 12 ml total, i.a.) was administered into the left atrium at the beginning of the baseline period, followed 60 min later by a constant infusion of cariporide (0.08 mg/kg/min, i.a.) that continued for the duration of the 25 I/R cycles. The dose and method of administration of cariporide was chosen based on preliminary data from three pigs indicating that this regimen resulted in adequate plasma concentrations (e.g., 1.0-1.5 µM). After I/R 25, regional blood flow was measured, and arterial blood samples were obtained for measuring plasma creatine kinase.

*Time/vehicle control; VEH.* The purpose of this protocol was to verify that alterations in regional function in ISC and CAR were due to ischemia per se rather than a result of cumulative time and/or prolonged sedation. Vehicle (saline; 12 ml, i.a.) was administered before, and a constant infusion started (0.04 ml/min, i.a.) at the end of the 60-min baseline period that continued for [almost equal to]4.2 h (i.e., 25 cycles × 10 min). Although no occlusions were performed in this protocol, hemodynamic variables were calculated and blood gases and rectal temperatures obtained after the time equivalent of cycles 1, 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25. Regional blood flow was measured as described.

## Adenosine infusion ±

To document vascular (i.e., LCx blood-flow velocity) and myofibrillar (i.e., regional systolic WTh) responsiveness after each experimental protocol, hemodynamic variables were assessed before and during adenosine infusion. Adenosine (5 mg/ml) was infused at incremental rates (0.5, 1.0, and 1.5 ml/min; i.a.) for 2-3 min at each rate. This procedure was performed ~10 min after the last occlusion (i.e., ISC or CAR) or VEH.

## Euthanization and postmortem procedures 🖭

Within 2 h of the last protocol, animals were intubated, anesthetized, and the heart excised after its arrest by using saturated KCl. Next, an incision was made on the surface of the myocardium from base to apex at the level of the hydraulic occluder to estimate the demarcation between normally perfused and ischemic myocardium. The myocardium then was cut into two transverse rings ([almost equal to]1.5 cm thick) along the hoop axis from base to apex, starting -0.5 cm below the plane of the LCx. Each ring then was sectioned (1- to 2-g segments) progressively from the LAD, through the LCx, to the RCA perfusion territories. The tissue was divided further into epicardial and endocardial layers, and sample blocks were placed into homogenizing vials and processed by using the standard procedures (20). Confirmation of the LCx-perfusion territory was provided by the lower microsphere blood-flow measurements during ischemia in tissue samples at the site of the LCx sonomicrometer dimension gauges.

## Statistical analysis 🐒

Data are expressed as group mean ± SEM. A two-way analysis of variance with repeated measures over time was used to evaluate hemodynamic and hematologic variables. Post hoc tests (Tukey) were performed when significant treatment (i.e., ISC, CAR, VEH) or time (i.e., baseline-I/R 25) effects or both were obtained (i.e., p < 0.05). A one-way analysis of variance was used to assess whether differences existed in transmural myocardial blood flow and plasma creatine kinase.

# RESULTS 街

# Exclusions 1

Of 20 pigs originally instrumented for study, six were excluded because of ventricular fibrillation that occurred either during an occlusion or on reperfusion (n = 4, ISC protocol; n = 2, CAR protocol), and seven were excluded because of instrumentation problems that occurred before each animal completed all three protocols. One animal was used to confirm a previous study (22) that similar reductions in regional myocardial function can be reproduced when I/R cycles are separated by >=6 days (data not shown). Therefore, statistical analyses were performed by using data from six animals (37.7  $\pm$  2.9 kg at time of surgery) that completed all three experimental protocols.

## General results 🟦

Although arterial pH, PCO<sub>2</sub>, and PO<sub>2</sub> were similar in pigs among conditions, propofol administration concomitant with supplemental oxygen altered blood gases from baseline within each protocol (Table 1). Supplemental oxygen increased arterial PO<sub>2</sub>, whereas propofol suppressed respiratory frequency, resulting in increased PCO<sub>2</sub> concentrations. However, arterial pH remained within physiological limits (e.g., 7.40-7.45), thus precluding any influence(s) of acid/base status on the results. The dose of propofol used, as well as each animal's rectal temperature, also did not vary either between pigs, or within animals on separate study days (data not shown). Moreover, plasma creatine kinase was similar before initiating the I/R regimen (505 ± 134 and 325 ± 72 U/L) and after I/R 25 (295 ± 81 and 294 ± 132 U/L) in ISC and CAR, respectively.



TABLE 1. Arterial blood gases

[Help with image viewing] [Email Jumpstart To Image]

Hemodynamic variables 🟦

Mean arterial pressure, HR, RPP (Fig. 1), LAD systolic WTh (Fig. 2; Table 2), and LCx blood-flow velocity (Table 3) did not differ in pigs within or among protocols before or during LCx occlusion. Moreover, LCx systolic WTh was not different during occlusion within or between the ISC and CAR protocols(Table 2).



FIG. 1. Mean arterial pressure, heart rate (HR), and HR times systolic blood pressure (SBP) product responses in pigs at baseline and during 25 ischemia (I) and reperfusion (I/R) cycles (I); 25 I/R cycles + cariporide ([black down pointing small triangle]-[black down pointing small triangle]); and time/vehicle control conditions ([black circle, horizontal bar, black circle]). Values expressed as mean ± SEM. Baseline measures are a combination of those taken immediately and 30 min after sedation with propofol. Values before the first I/R cycle were obtained 60 min after sedation. Successive measurements were taken at [almost equal to]50-min intervals (i.e., five I/R cycles, 10 min per cycle).

[Help with image viewing] [Email Jumpstart To Image]



FIG. 2. Left circumflex (LCx) and left anterior descending (LAD) coronary artery regional systolic wall thickening in pigs at baseline and during 25 ischemia (I) and reperfusion (I/R) cycles ([white circle, horizontal bar, white circle]); 25 I/R cycles + cariporide ([black down pointing small triangle]-[black down pointing small triangle]); and time/vehicle control conditions ([black circle, horizontal bar, black circle]). Values expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Pre-I/R 1 measures are a combination of those taken 30 and 60 min after sedation with propofol. Successive measurements were taken at [almost equal to]50-min intervals (i.e., five I/R cycles, 10 min per cycle) and are expressed as a percentage of baseline (i.e., pre-I/R 1) systolic wall thickening. \*p < 0.05 versus respective baseline condition; <sup>1</sup>p < 0.05 versus CAR and VEH.

[Help with image viewing] [Email Jumpstart To Image]

Anna	in teacher the								
3.0- 239	200.00	2401.11		574. 140 574. 140 574. 140	Steat a	Sound Street	Second Second		101.00
	custing of	11 Mar.							
24 24	36.14.22 36.1+ X2 20.27 X0		200.4.10	0111 W 1011 W 2011 W	20172	200221	1000		
Sec. and	il tecchine e	hard and							
ŝ.	201		12	-	61		22	25	31.0

TABLE 2. Regional systolic wall thickening and left circumflex blood-flow velocity

[Help with image viewing] [Email Jumpstart To Image]

	8	325	£13	5.5. 
er: waardigi	217 8 42 8 1	50 y 5 52 y 5	1000 y 1000 171 x 80	13 y 1911 19 x 191
	5 35 5 11 2 55 5 11 2 55 5 11	138 x 171 138 x 171 141 x 81	1904 (197 120 g 97 120 g 97	1 46 ± 40" 1 36 ± 40" 1 36 ± 40"
191	81 18 88 7 18 88 7 18	20.831 20.3851 20.3851 20.8851	112344 156432 362412	10-4 3 54/ (6 8 4 5 1 1 17 4 5 54/
199	151.34 291.91 291.92	138×18 83×18 83×15	10 X & 1 & 4 10 X & 1 & 4 10 X & 2 & 4 11 X & 2 & 7	18-19-137 18-29-29- 18-29-29-
6 - 4 grants		10 R 15 12 A 11 32 A 41	- 46 x 385 80 x 175 80 x 175	

[Email Jumpstart To Image]

Absolute LCx systolic WTh was similar among animals in each condition at baseline and before I/R 1. Over time, however, LCx systolic WTh was reduced compared with baseline at I/R 5, 10, 15, and 25 in the ISC protocol, and at I/R 25 during the CAR condition. Similar results were obtained when LCx systolic WTh was expressed as a percentage of baseline and compared within each condition over time (Fig. 2). Specifically, the percentage of baseline function was reduced at I/R 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 in ISC, and at I/R 15 and 25 in CAR. When results were compared among groups, the percentage of baseline function was depressed in ISC, compared with both CAR and VEH, at I/R 10, 15, 20, and 25. LCx systolic WTh was not altered over time in VEH when expressed either in absolute terms or as a percentage of baseline. A representative tracing of regional function before I/R 1, during LCx occlusion, and before I/R 25, for the ISC and CAR protocols, is shown in Fig. 3.



FIG. 3. A tracing from one animal showing systolic wall thickening (WTh) in the left circumflex (LCx) and left anterior descending (LAD) perfusion territories before ischemia and reperfusion (I/R) cycle 1, during an LCx occlusion, and before I/R cycle 25. A: ISC, 25 I/R cycles. B: CAR, 25 I/R cycles + cariporide. Gain of the electrocardiogram (ECG) was not constant.

[Help with image viewing] [Email Jumpstart To Image]

Because no differences existed in transmural blood flow between rings 1 and 2, the data were combined. Regional myocardial blood-flow measurements confirmed that inflation of the hydraulic occluder reduced transmural blood flow to the LCx-perfusion territory. Moreover, transmural blood flow in both the LCx and LAD regions was similar when compared among protocols after I/R 25 (Fig. 4). Adequate mixing of the microspheres was documented because <15% difference existed in blood flow between the right and left kidneys.



FIG. 4. Transmural blood flow in regions perfused by the left circumflex (LCx, ([white square]) and left anterior descending (LAD, [black small square]) coronary arteries. Values expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Blood flow was measured after 25 ischemia and reperfusion (I/R) cycles (ISC), 25 I/R cycles + cariporide (CAR); 25 mock I/R cycles (VEH), and during LCx occlusion (Occlusion). \*p < 0.05 versus all other measurements.

[Help with image viewing] [Email Jumpstart To Image]

## Adenosine infusion 🔳

All hemodynamic variables were similar among protocols before adenosine administration (Table 3). There were no differences in the hemodynamic responses to adenosine infusion (MAP, HR, LCx blood-flow velocity) at all three infusion rates (i.e., 0.5, 1.0, 1.5 ml/min). However, in the LCx region, adenosine infusion at a rate of 1.0 ml/min increased systolic WTh in the CAR and VEH, but not ISC, protocols. Adenosine infusion at a rate of 1.5 ml/min increased systolic WTh in all protocols.

#### DISCUSSION 1

This study used a long-term porcine model of repetitive myocardial ischemia and reperfusion (I/R) to produce stable regional dysfunction. We demonstrated that NHE inhibition with cariporide delayed the onset and limited the degree of regional dysfunction in response to 25 I (2-min)/R (8-min) cycles. In light of previous work (11,13,15,16), we can postulate the mechanisms for this effect and the potential for therapy in patients with chronic ischemic dysfunction.

#### Mechanisms of regional dysfunction 🏦

A single episode of ischemia followed by timely reperfusion results in persistent regional dysfunction (23). Although there probably are numerous mechanisms responsible for postischemic myocardial dysfunction [e.g., generation of free radicals (7)], data indicate that calcium overload on reperfusion likely is an important mechanism (5,6,8). In this regard, a single episode of brief ischemia and reperfusion has been shown to impair calcium homeostasis, illustrated by reduced transport in the sarcoplasmic reticulum (5), prolongation of the calcium transient, and elevation of diastolic calcium (8). In addition, findings suggest that the severity of ischemic dysfunction after brief ischemia and reperfusion is limited by interventions that reduce calcium flux at the onset of reperfusion (9). Taken together, these results strongly suggest the importance of reperfusion calcium overload as a potential mechanism for regional dysfunction after ischemia.

Calcium overload after brief ischemia may result from several intra- and extracellular pathways, including SR calcium channels, sarcolemmal calcium

channels, and the Na-Ca exchanger (10). One mechanism stimulating entry of calcium through the Na-Ca exchanger is the increase in intracellular sodium [Na]i during ischemia and early reperfusion as a consequence of acidosis and resultant Na-H exchange (24). Data supporting this mechanism indicate that NHE inhibition before and during an ischemic episode reduces [Na]i and [Ca]i, as well as the impairment of ischemia-induced myocardial dysfunction (11,15,16). Although several NHE inhibitors have been used to demonstrate these beneficial effects (11,15), results indicate that some (e.g., amiloride, ethylisopropyl amiloride) may directly inhibit the Na-Ca exchanger (25). In contrast, the NHE inhibitor used in our study, cariporide, is a specific inhibitor of the NHE subtype 1 with no known effect on the Na-Ca exchanger at its IG<sub>50</sub> (-0.1-0.3  $\mu$ M; 15).

## NHE inhibition in repetitive ischemia 🕥

The efficacy of NHE inhibition has not been examined previously in a chronic model of repetitive ischemia that is capable of inducing stable reductions in regional myocardial function. Our data show that cariporide administered systemically to provide plasma concentrations of 1-1.5  $\mu$ M delays the onset and attenuates the magnitude of ischemia-induced LCx regional dysfunction (Fig. 1). These protective effects were observed in the absence of any effect of cariporide on systemic hemodynamics, arterial blood gases, LAD systolic WTh, and transmural myocardial blood flow. These results are consistent with the findings of Sack et al. (13), who demonstrated less postischemic dysfunction after two 10-min periods of coronary occlusion in animals pretreated with the NHE inhibitor HOE 694. Our experiments add to these findings by (a) demonstrating a beneficial effect in a long-term conscious animal preparation with repetitive brief ischemic episodes, (b) providing concurrent measurements of myocardial blood flow with and without NRE inhibition, and (c) demonstrating a beneficial effect of NHE inhibition on the vasodilator response to adenosine. Our observations of chronically reduced function despite normal blood flow also are consistent with previous animal models using repetitive ischemia (22) or progressive coronary artery stenosis (26). Differences in these models should be noted, because we observed stable reductions in LCx regional function after -3 h (i.e., 1/R20), whereas Shen and Vatner (26) noted these changes by using ameroid-induced LCx constriction after 20 days.

## NHE inhibition and vascular function 🔳

In addition to delaying the onset and reducing the extent of ischemia-induced regional dysfunction, NHE inhibition also improved the vasodilator response to adenosine after 25 I/R cycles. For example, a greater amount of adenosine was required (i.e., 1.5 ml/min) to increase LCx systolic WTh after ISC compared with the CAR and VEH protocols (i.e., 1.0 ml/min; Table 3). Although no statistical difference existed among protocols in the LCx flow-velocity increase in response to maximal adenosine infusion (i.e., 1.5 ml/min), increases observed during the VEH (142%) and CAR (140%) protocols were higher than ISC (98%; p = NS). This [almost equal to]40% increase in blood-flow velocity may reflect some degree of preservation of endothelium-dependent function by NHE inhibition.

#### Repetitive ischemia as a model for hibernation 🔳

Chronic regional dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease is often termed "hibernating myocardium" (1,2). Hibernating myocardium can develop from chronic sublethal ischemia (27-31) or repeated brief ischemic episodes or both, resulting in chronic myocardial dysfunction (4).

The applicability of the paradigm of stable, reduced flow as a mechanism of chronic dysfunction in humans may be questioned because data from other studies (animal and human) indicate that regional blood flow is maintained under conditions of hibernating myocardium (4,26). If this is correct, then transient rather than chronic reductions in blood flow may be responsible for regional dysfunction. This paradigm is supported by the study of Shen and Vatner (26), who showed that regional myocardial blood flow was similar 20 days after placement of an ameroid constrictor, despite reductions in regional WTh. This study further supported the model of repetitive ischemia causing hibernation, because persistent reductions in regional myocardial function occurred in response to spontaneous excitement (e.g., feeding; 26).

Clinical evidence for this conclusion was provided by measurement of regional blood flow and function in patients with chronic collateral-dependent dysfunction (4). In that study, mild reductions of flow were present at rest in regions of impaired function. However, flow reserve in response to dipyridamole was impaired markedly, and the degree of functional impairment was related significantly to flow reserve rather than baseline flow. As in the animal study noted earlier, these investigators concluded that "impaired function probably results from repetitive episodes of ischemia with persistent stunning ..." (4). These results, together with those from other studies (32-34), suggest that in many cases hibernation is the result of repetitive stunning rather than, or in addition to, chronic ischemia.

Given these findings, our protocol, consisting of 25 cycles of ischemia (2 min) and reperfusion (8 min), resulting in stable reductions in regional systolic function, may be considered a model of acute myocardial hibernation (35). However, because our protocol did not last weeks/months/years (as in human myocardial hibernation), the applicability of these findings to patients is not yet established.

## Limitations 🖄

Concern may be raised that the CAR protocol was biased favorably to a late effect of ischemic preconditioning (36). This bias is unlikely because (a) a previous study using a similar protocol showed that the late protective effect of repetitive ischemia was absent within 6 days of the last ischemic episode (22), (b) a pilot experiment showed no change in the response to 25 I/R cycles separated by 7 days, and (c) baseline systolic WTh was similar at the onset of each protocol (i.e., there was no persistent regional dysfunction). Second, although the mechanism of protection of cariporide may be extrapolated from this and other studies (11,13,15,16), we performed no measures of [Na]<sub>i</sub> and [Ca]<sub>i</sub>. Thus it is possible that other nonspecific factors associated with cariporide could account for the protective effects in the absence of reductions in either [Na] and [Ca]<sub>i</sub>. Third, cariporide was administered before the onset of repetitive ischemia, and it is unknown whether NHE inhibition during the development of regional dysfunction, or even after it is established, would be similarly effective. Fourth, concern may be raised that total occlusion of the LCx was not achieved because transmural blood flow ([almost equal to]0.25 ml/g/min) and systolic WTh (<5%) in this region were not zero. The most likely explanation for this finding is that even though the visual and audible indices of phasic flow were abolished during each occlusion, some flow still may have passed through the occluder and perfused the LCx region. However, any perfusion that did exist during LCx occlusion likely was similar within and between protocols for each animal because the indeflator was pressurized identically, and occlusion-induced reductions in LCx blood-flow velocity and systolic WTh were similar within and between protocols. Finally, the possibility exists that collateral vessels were formed by our occlusion protocol. However, because the induction of collaterals by repetitive occlusion

requires that multiple occlusions be performed over several days (37,38), stimulation of this vasculature by our protocol is unlikely. In any case, absolute LCx WTh was not different during occlusion either between the ISC and CAR protocols or over time within each condition, thus allowing comparison between these two protocols.

#### Implications 🖄

This study demonstrated that NHE inhibition with cariporide delays the onset and limits the extent of ischemia-induced regional dysfunction in a long-term porcine model of repetitive ischemia. Whereas extrapolation of these data from our experimental animal model should be done cautiously, our findings suggest that NHE inhibition in patients with chronic ischemic dysfunction may limit the degree of functional impairment without surgical intervention. Because left ventricular dysfunction is an important determinant of survival, such treatment also may decrease mortality in these patients.

Acknowledgment: We thank Drs. Wolfgang Scholz and John C. Longhurst for their support and helpful suggestions in this project. We thank Natalie Hill, Michael Clifford, Liane Martin, Thu-Thao Nu Ha, Azadeh Jafarnia, Thao-Thi Tran, Roberta Holt, Stephen Rendig, Elaine Wilkins, and Jessica Davis for their contributions, as well as Li Feng Wang for performing the creatine kinase assays. Natalie Hill was a student Fellow of the American Heart Association, California Affiliate. Assistance from the Laboratory Animal Health Clinic and Animal Resource Services at the University of California, Davis, was greatly appreciated.

This study was funded by a research grant from Hoechst Marion Roussel, Inc., Frankfurt, Germany. This study was supported, in part, from research funds provided by the Division of Cardiovascular Medicine at U.C. Davis.

#### **REFERENCES** 1

1. Braunwald E, Rutherford JD. Reversible ischemic left ventricular dysfunction: evidence for the "hibernating myocardium." *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1986;8:1467-70. Check for full text [Context Link]

2. Rahimtoola SH. The hibernating myocardium. Am Heart J 1989;11:7211-21. Check for full text [Context Link]

3. Schaefer S, Schwartz G, Wisneski JA, et al. Response of high energy phosphates and lactate release during prolonged regional ischemia in vivo. *Circulation* 1992;85:342-9. Ovid Full Text Check for full text Bibliographic Links [Context Link]

4. Vanoverschelde JJ, Wijns W, Depre C, et al. Mechanism of chronic regional postischemic dysfunction in humans. *Circulation* 1993;87:1513-23. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

5. Krause SM, Jacobus WE, Becker LC. Alterations in cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium transport in the postischemic "stunned" myocardium. *Circ Res* 1989;65:526-30. Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

6. Tani M, Neely JR. Role of intracellular Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload and depressed recovery of ventricular function of reperfused ischemic rat hearts. *Circ Res* 1989;65:1045-56. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

7. Przyklenk K, Kloner RA. Superoxide dismutase plus catalase improve contractile function in the canine model of "stunned myocardium." *Circ Res* 1986;58:148-56. Check for full text [Context Link]

8. Inoguchi T, Xia P, Kunisaki M, Higashi S, Feener EP, King GL. Insulin's effect on protein kinase C and diacylglycerol induced by diabetes and glucose in vascular tissues. *Am J Physiol* 1994;267:E369-79. Check for full text Bibliographic Links [Context Link]

9. duToit EF, Opie LH. Modulation of severity of reperfusion stunning in the isolated rat heart by agents altering calcium flux at onset of reperfusion. Circ Res 1992;70:960-7. [Context Link]

10. Haigney MCP, Miyata H, Lakatta EG, Stern MD, Silverman HS. Dependence of hypoxic cellular calcium loading on Na<sup>+</sup>-Ca<sup>2+</sup> exchange. *Circ Res* 1992;71:547-57. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

11. Pike MM, Luo CS, Clark MD, et al. NMR measurements of Na<sup>+</sup> and cellular energy in ischemic rat heart: role of Na<sup>+</sup>·H<sup>+</sup> exchange. *Am J Physiol* 1993;256:H2017-26. [Context Link]

12. Scholz W, Albus U. Potential of selective sodium-hydrogen exchange inhibitors in cardiovascular therapy. *Cardiovasc Res* 1995;29:184-8. Check for full text | Bibliographic Links<sub>1</sub> [Context Link]

13. Sack S, Mohri M, Schwarz ER, et al. Effects of a new Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> antiporter inhibitor on postischemic reperfusion in pig heart. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 1994;23:72-8. Ovid Full Text<sup>+</sup> Check for full text<sup>+</sup> Bibliographic Links<sup>+</sup> [Context Link]

14. Kaila K, Vaughan-Jones RD. Influence of sodium-hydrogen exchange on intracellular pH, sodium and tension in sheep cardiac Purkinje fibres. *J Physiol* (*Lond*) 1987;390:93-118. Check for full text | Full Text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

15. Scholz W, Albus U, Linz W, Martorana P, Lang HJ, Scholkens BA. Effects of Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchange inhibitors in cardiac ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 1992;24:731-40. Check for full text| Bibliographic Links|[Context Link]

16. Hendrickx M, Mubagwa K, Verdonck F, et al. New Na<sup>\*</sup>-H<sup>\*</sup> exchange inhibitor HOE 694 improves postischemic function and high-energy phosphate resynthesis and reduces Ca<sup>2\*</sup> overload in isolated perfused rabbit heart. *Circulation* 1994;89:2787-98. [Context Link]

17. Symons JD, Pitsillides KF, Longhurst JC. Chronic reduction of myocardial ischemia does not attenuate coronary collateral development in miniswine. *Circulation* 1992;86:660-71. Ovid Full Text Check for full text Bibliographic Links [Context Link]

18. Symons JD, Firoozmand E, Longhurst JC. Repeated dipyridamole administration enhances collateral-dependent flow and regional function during exercise: a role for adenosine. *Circ Res* 1993;73:503-13. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

19. Roth DM, White FC, Nichols ML, Dobbs SL, Longhurst JC, Bloor CM. Effect of long-term exercise on regional myocardial function and coronary collateral development after gradual coronary artery occlusion in pigs. *Circulation* 1990;82:1778-89. Ovid Full Text Check for full text Bibliographic Links [Context Link]

20. Kowallik P, Schultz R, Guth BD, et al. Measurement of regional myocardial blood flow with multiple colored microspheres. *Circulation* 1991;83:974-82. Ovid Full Text Check for full text Bibliographic Links [Context Link]

21. Rosalski SB. An improved procedure for serum creatine phosphokinase determination. J Lab Clin Med 1967;69:696-701. [Context Link]

22. Tang XL, Qiu Y, Park SW, Sun JZ, Kayla A, Bolli R. Time course of late preconditioning against myocardial stunning in conscious pigs. *Circ Res* 1996;79:424-34. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

23. Kloner RA, DeBoer LWV, Darsee JR, Ingwall J, Braunwald E. Recovery from prolonged abnormalities of canine myocardium salvaged from ischemic necrosis by coronary reperfusion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1981;78:7152-6. Check for full text | Bibliographic Links| [Context Link]

24. Anderson SE, Murphy E, Steenbergen C, London RE, Cala PM. Na-H exchange in myocardium: effects of hypoxia and acidification on Na and Ca. *Am J Physiol* 1990;259:C940-8. Check for full text | Bibliographic Links| [Context Link]

25. Murata Y, Harada K, Nakajima F, Maruo J, Morita T. Non-selective effects of amiloride and its analogues on ion transport systems and their cytotoxicities in cardiac myocytes. Jpn J Pharmacol 1995;68:279-85. Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

26. Shen YT, Vatner SF. Mechanism of impaired myocardial function during progressive coronary stenosis in conscious pigs: hibernation vs stunning?*Circ Res* 1995;76:479-88. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links [Context Link]

27. Schaefer S, Schwartz G, Wisneski JA, et al. Response of high-energy phosphates and lactate release during prolonged regional ischemia in vivo. *Circulation* 1992;85:342-9. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links [Context Link]

28. Arai AE, Pantely GA, Anselone CG, Bristow J, Bristow JD. Active downregulation of myocardial energy requirements during prolonged moderate ischemia in swine. *Circ Res* 1991;69:1458-69. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

29. Tamaki N, Kawamoto M, Tadamura E, et al. Prediction of reversible ischemia after revascularization: perfusion and metabolic studies with positron emission tomography. *Circulation* 1995;91:1607-705. Check for full text [Context Link]

30. Bonow R, Dilsizian V, Cuocolo A. Identification of viable myocardium in patients with chronic coronary artery disease and left ventricular dysfunction. *Circulation* 1991;83:26-37. [Context Link]

31. Brunken RC, Mody FV, Hawkins RA, Nienaber C, Phelps ME, Schelbert HR. Positron emission tomography detects metabolic viability in myocardium with persistent 24-hour single-photon emission computed tomography <sup>201</sup>TI defects. *Circulation* 1992;86:1357-69. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | **Bibliographic** Links | [Context Link]

32. Klocke FJ, Davis CAI, Sriunivasan G, et al. Delayed reductions in regional myocardial function following repeated brief ischemia-a chronic canine model of myocardial hibernation [Abstract]. *Circulation* 1993;88:I-188. Check for full text | [Context Link]

33. Marinho N, Keogh BE, Costa DC, Lammerstma AA, Ell PJ, Camici PG. Pathophysiology of chronic left ventricular dysfunction: new insights from the measurement of absolute myocardial blood flow and glucose utilization. *Circulation* 1996;93:737-44. Ovid Full Text | Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

34. Swada S, Elsner G, Segar DS, et al. Evaluation of patterns of perfusion and metabolism in dobutamine-responsive myocardium. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1997;29:55-61. [Context Link]

35. Ross JJ. Myocardial perfusion-contraction matching: implications for coronary heart disease and hibernation. *Circulation* 1990;66:166-73. Check for full text [Context Link]

36. Przyklenk K, Kloner RA, Yellon DM. Ischemic preconditioning: the concept of endogenous cardioprotection. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1994. [Context Link] 37. Williams DO, Boatwright RB, Rugh KS, Garner HE, Griggs DM. Myocardial blood flow, metabolism, and function with repeated brief coronary occlusion in conscious ponies. *Am J Physiol* 1991;260:H100-9. Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

38. Fujita M, McKown DP, McKown MD, Hartley JW, Franklin D. Evaluation of coronary collateral development by regional myocardial function and reactive hyperemia. *Cardiovasc Res* 1987;21:377-84. Check for full text | Bibliographic Links | [Context Link]

Key Words: Ischemia; Reperfusion; Intracellular calcium; Cariporide; Conscious pigs

Copyright (c) 2000-2009 Ovid Technologies, Inc.

By accessing or using OvidSP, you agree to Ovid's terms of use, conditions and all applicable laws. If you do not agree to these terms you may not use this Site. Version: OvidSP\_UI02.01.02.102, SourceID 40419